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Report of the Board of Management
The Board of Connect Housing is pleased to present its report together with the audited
financial statements of Connect Housing for the year ended 31 March 2020.
Nature of the business
Connect Housing Association is a Community Benefit Society (CBS), registered with the Financial
Conduct Authority (FCA) under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and
a Registered Provider of social housing regulated by The Regulator of Social Housing.
The Association’s principal aims are to contribute to the regeneration and sustainability of local
communities through the provision of affordable, good quality, well maintained and well
managed homes, and the provision of community services, for people with housing needs across
West Yorkshire.
The Association has charitable status and operates the following key business streams:
 housing for rent, primarily by families and individuals who are unable to rent or buy at
open market rates;


supported housing, and floating support provision for people who need additional
housing-related support; and



low-cost home ownership, primarily shared ownership.

The Association also develops new affordable housing and provides, albeit on a small scale, nonsocial housing, namely premises leased for commercial purposes and accommodation for
students in higher education.
Details of the Association’s principal activities, its performance during the year and factors likely
to affect its future development are contained within the Strategic Report found later in this
document.
Board and Committee Members and Executive Directors
The Board and Leadership Team members serving during the period and up to the date of
signing the Financial Statements are listed on page 3. Board members are shareholders of the
Association and provide their services on an unpaid, voluntary basis.
The Board is responsible for directing the affairs of Connect, determining the vision and strategy
and ensuring that the Association is viable, properly governed and properly managed. It sets,
and ensures adherence to, Connect’s values, purpose and strategic objectives to secure
Connect’s long-term success; taking appropriate advice as required.
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The day-to-day management of the business and implementation of strategies agreed by the
Board are delegated to the executive directors (Leadership Team) comprising the Chief Executive,
the Director of Finance and Resources, the Director of Neighbourly Places and the Director of
Home.
Officers' insurance
The Association has maintained throughout the year insurance of members and senior
employees against liabilities in relation to the Association.
Governance
The Regulator of Social Housing confirmed Connect’s regulatory judgement of G1:V1 during
2019/20.
The Association is governed by a Board of up to 12 non-executive members. Across the
membership of the Board, Connect aims to include:
 Skills and experience – the full range of expertise required to govern the Association
effectively; and


Profile – members with a range of characteristics and backgrounds, broadly reflecting the
areas where Connect Housing operates.

As at the end of March 2020, there were 11 members. As at 19 June 2020, when the Board
appointed an additional member, the Board was brought to its full complement of 12.
The Human Resources and Governance Committee (HRGC) led a recruitment process during
2020 to successfully address identified skills gaps in Finance.
The committee structure includes:
 An Audit & Risk Management Committee which ensures there is a robust framework of
delegation, systems of internal control and a risk management framework in order to
safeguard the assets of the Association;


An HR and Governance Committee which ensures there are robust HR and governance
arrangements in place, including remuneration of the Chief Executive, staff and Board
members and a performance appraisal system for the Board, Chair, individual Board
members and Chief Executive.



A Treasury Task and Finish Group.

Membership of these groups is indicated on page 3.
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Connect operates under the latest (2015) version the National Housing Federation (NHF) model
rules and has a closed shareholding policy whereby only Board members are shareholders.
The 2018 independent Board effectiveness review concluded that there was a ‘good governance
culture’ at Connect. The HRGC carried out the 2020 Board effectiveness review to inform the
governance action plan for 2020/21.
Financial Statements
The Board is pleased to report another strong financial performance for the year with a surplus
before pension re-measurements of £2.175 million (2019: £2.154 million), in what continues to
be a very challenging operating environment. After adjustments in respect of pension schemes,
the total comprehensive income for the year is £3.301million (2019: £523k). The Board is
however aware that surplus levels are projected to be much lower in the short to medium term
(reflecting in particular the impact of COVID-19 on the economy from March 2020, the ongoing impact of Welfare Reforms, and the need to respond to the climate emergency).
The Association’s reserves represent internally generated resources already invested in the
business and now total £25.673 million (2019: £22.372 million). The level of reserves reflects a
sound financial performance over many years, and the Association’s long term planning aims to
ensure the maintenance of adequate reserves at all times in the future.
The reserves remain necessary to ensure that the Association:
-

is able to plan ahead from a sound financial base, safe in the knowledge that short term
financial issues will not prejudice long term programmes;

-

can continue to borrow private finance on competitive terms to fund its future
development programme;

-

can continue to make provision for the proper maintenance of its property stock in the
long term (including planned, routine and major repairs, including climate emergency
retro-fitting) - this cost will increase significantly as the average age of the stock increases;

-

is able to develop schemes which meet housing need, but for which public funding may
not be available and

-
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may pursue other opportunities as they arise.
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Going concern
The Board has considered the association’s current and future prospects and its availability of
financing and is satisfied that the company can continue to pay its liabilities as they fall due for a
period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements. The
Association’s business activities, its current financial position and factors likely to affect its future
development are set out in detail within the Strategic Report. For this reason, the Board
continues to adopt the going concern basis of preparation for these financial statements.
Statement of the responsibilities of the Board for the report and financial statements
The Board is responsible for preparing the Report of the Board of Management, the Strategic
Report, and the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Co-operative and Community Benefit Society and registered social landlord legislation requires
the Board to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Association and of the financial surplus of the Association for that
period. Under that law these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS
102 and in preparing them the Board:
-

select appropriate policies and apply them consistently;

-

make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent;

-

state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

-

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Association will continue in business.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Association and enable it to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014,
the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered
Providers of Social Housing from April 2015. It is also responsible for maintaining an adequate
system of internal control and safeguarding the assets of the Association and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Report of the Board is prepared in accordance
with the “Housing SORP 2018 update: Statement of Recommended Practice for registered social
housing providers”.
Internal controls assurance
The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining the
Association’s system of internal control and reviewing its effectiveness.
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The Board recognises that no system of internal control can provide absolute assurance or
eliminate all risk. The system of internal control is designed to manage, rather than eliminate,
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and to provide reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Association has procedures to ensure that the internal control systems are monitored and
reviewed regularly by the Board. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the Association’s
internal control systems for the period from 1 April 2019 up to the date of approval of the
annual report and financial statements.
Key elements of the control framework include:
-

Board approved terms of reference and delegated authorities for staff and committees;

-

Clearly defined management responsibilities for the identification, evaluation and control
of significant risks;

-

Robust strategic and business planning processes;

-

Detailed financial budgets and forecasts for subsequent years;

-

Regular reporting to senior management and the Board of key business objectives,
targets and outcomes;

-

Formal recruitment, retention, training and development policies;

-

Detailed approach to treasury management, subject to annual external review;

-

Established authorisation and appraisal procedures for all significant new initiatives and
commitments;

-

Board approved whistle-blowing, anti-fraud, and anti-bribery policies;

-

Annual review of the Fraud Register by the Board, with on-going management review;

-

Monitoring of control systems by the Board, Audit & Risk Management Committee,
management review, and by the commissioning of independent reviews;

-

Annual reviews of the Key Strategic Risks and Directorate risk maps by the Board and
Audit & Risk Management Committee, with on-going management review;

-

A risk management strategy reviewed and agreed annually by the Board and the Audit &
Risk Management Committee, with on-going management review;

-

Detailed policies and procedures in each key area of the Association’s work;

-

Annual review of the Asset & Liability Register by Audit & Risk Management Committee
and Board of Management; and

-

Annual review of the Association’s Stress Testing framework.
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The Board cannot delegate ultimate responsibility for the system of internal control but it can,
and has, delegated authority to the Audit & Risk Management Committee (ARMC) to regularly
review the effectiveness of the system of internal control. The Board receives reports from the
ARMC together with minutes of its meetings.
The means by which the ARMC reviews the effectiveness of the system of internal control
include considering risk reports, internal audit reports, management assurances, and the external
audit management letter. The ARMC has received the Chief Executive’s annual review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control for the Association together with the annual
report of the internal auditors, and has reported its findings to the Board. The Board has in turn
conducted its own annual review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control.
Risks and uncertainties
The Key Strategic Risks (KSR) that may prevent the Association from achieving its strategic
objectives have been informed by the changing risk environment regarding Health & Safety,
support services commissioning, the pre and post Brexit/Covid-19 economy the planned
implementation of a new Information Technology solution and the climate emergency.
The risks are assessed in terms of their impact and likelihood and are documented through risk
maps which help us to manage and report on this area. The use of a 5x5 matrix to allows
flexibility to differentiate risks and plot risk appetite more accurately.
Disclosure of information to auditors
So far as each person who was a director (who are members of the Board) at the date of
approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit information, being information needed
by the auditor in connection with preparing its report, of which the auditor is unaware. Having
made enquiries of fellow directors and the association’s auditor, each director has taken all the
steps that he/she is obliged to take as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information. The
Board and ARMC also meet on occasions in closed session without the presence of staff.
Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held on 22 September 2020, via video conferencing to
ensure a Covid safe environment.
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External auditors
Following the resignation of Ernst & Young LLP in 2020, the Board of Connect appointed Crowe
U.K. LLP to carry out the audit for the financial year ended 31st March 2020.
Crowe U.K. LLP have indicated their willingness to be reappointed for another term and a
resolution to re-appoint them will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

The Report of the Board of Management was approved on 22 September 2020 and signed on
its behalf by

David Wolverson
Chair of the Board of Management
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Strategic report
The Board of Connect Housing Association is pleased to present the Strategic Report for the year
ended 31 March 2020. Following an extensive review with stakeholders as part of our rebranding exercise, our vision, purpose and value were updated in 2019. Further changes to our
strategic objectives are underway during 2020 in preparation for a new 3 year strategy covering
2021 to 2024.
OUR PURPOSE
We invest in homes and relationships that connect people and build futures.

OUR VISION
A sustainable and just society where good homes, good neighbourhoods and opportunities help people
enjoy happy, healthy lives.

OUR STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND THEMES
VALUED
PEOPLE

VALUED
HOMES

Great people deliver
great service, so we will
be a happy, vibrant place
to work where people
can be their best.

Our offer will be for
everyone, including the
poorest in society and
those with more than
housing needs. We will
be part of the solution to
the crisis of
homelessness.

Supported by technology
and efficient systems, our
costs will be appropriate
to the social impact of
our work.
We will ‘grow our own’
by making learning a
high priority.

We will grow our offer of
truly affordable and
sustainable homes within
the context of investing
in existing housing.
The safety and condition
of our homes is a priority.

VALUED
NEIGHBOURHOODS
Based on an
understanding of what
people want and need,
we will adopt models of
support that are
affordable and
sustainable.
As a local landlord and
employer, we will seek
out and work with
people who, together,
can make a difference.
Our customers will design
our services with us –
choice, convenience and
communication will be
core principles.
We will innovate and
experiment with ways to
maximise our resources
to use for the good of
communities.

OUR VALUES ARE OUR FOUNDATION
Put people first
Love making a difference
Actively listen and learn
Collaborate creatively
Earn trust through our actions
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VALUED
PLANET
Recognising that the
ultimate home is our
planet we will contribute
to reducing the impact of
the climate emergency by
understanding our
carbon footprint and
assessing all of our
decisions against the
drive towards a zero
carbon ambition.
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Strategic report (continued)
Principal activities
Connect is a not-for-profit community-based housing and support provider with over 3,500
homes across Leeds, Kirklees, Calderdale and Wakefield. The Association also develops new
affordable housing and provides, albeit on a small scale, non-social housing, namely premises
leased for commercial purposes and accommodation for students in higher education. However,
the Association’s focus remains its social housing and community activities and these are
expected to continue to constitute over 90% of the Association’s activities by turnover.
Statement of compliance with the Governance and Financial Viability Standard
The Board reviewed a self-assessment against the standard at the HR and Governance
committee on 12th June 2020 and confirmed compliance with the Governance and Financial
Viability Standard at the Board seminar on 19th June 2020. The Board considers changes in
good practice as part of the self-assessment and includes any areas for improvement in the
governance action plan each year.
Statement of compliance with the NHF Code of Governance
The Board has adopted the NHF Code of Governance (2015 edition) and reviewed a selfassessment against the code at the HR and Governance committee on 12th June 2020
confirming compliance with the Code at the Board seminar on19th June 2020. The Board
considers changes in good practice as part of the self-assessment and includes any areas for
improvement in the governance action plan each year.
Employees
The Association recognises that the fulfilment of its strategic objectives depends on the quality,
commitment and flexibility of the 178 (full time equivalent) people it employs across the
organisation.
Connect’s People Strategy aims to deliver a performance and learning culture. The Association is
committed to investing in its employees and through its 4-monthly performance and career
development review system, is able to identify and build on every employee’s talents and
development needs to ensure that Connect has the skills and experience required now and in
the future. In these reviews all of our team members explore how they have moved the business
and themselves forward as the two are inextricably linked.
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Strategic report (continued)
The Association aims to reflect within its workforce, and on its Board, the diversity of the
communities where it is working. The Association is also committed to equal opportunities for all
its employees, both at the recruitment stage and throughout their employment, through,
amongst other things, the Staff Liaison Group which includes three Staff Representatives elected
by all staff for a three year term.
COVID-19
Like all other housing associations, Connect has been significantly impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic. The Association has reacted quickly whilst facing unprecedented challenges that have
affected the lives of so many people. The priority throughout these circumstances has been
ensuring the safety of customers and staff and providing support wherever possible, whilst
following the relevant government guidance. Maintaining the financial stability of Connect has
also been a top priority. Throughout the pandemic, we have been very proud of the way our
teams have supported our customers, and one another, reflecting the values of Connect.
During the initial stages of lockdown business continuity plans were implemented, with response
teams meeting daily to steer organisational change in line with the unfolding circumstances and
the Board meeting more regularly (virtually) to sign-off matters reserved for them. The focus of
service delivery was on dealing with emergency repairs and supporting tenants and staff.
Connect quickly mobilised teams to work from home wherever possible and redeployed staff to
ensure key services were delivered. Services in sheltered and supported housing schemes
continued, but in a modified and socially-distanced way to minimise the risk of transmission.
With the agreement of tenants through the Service Improvement Forum, some of the Connect
Commitments were temporarily suspended, with services only returning once safe to do so. A
range of interim policies were implemented and risk assessments for activities were put in place.
At the start of the pandemic, the Association made welfare calls to nearly 2000 tenants. As a
result, nearly 100 tenants were referred to our Money Matters Service who provided additional
support to those individuals. Referrals to food banks were made and emergency food deliveries
were provided to a small number of tenants. Direct financial assistance was also distributed to a
small number of vulnerable tenants through hardship payments. The Association continued to
make calls to customers who requested additional support.
We are very conscious of the potential impact of the pandemic on the Association’s finances,
particularly as a result of the impact of COVID-19 on the wider economy. Throughout the
pandemic the Association has continued to stress test various scenarios, whilst closely
monitoring arrears, re-let times and overall financial position. The Board of Management also
approved a revised Covid 19 Budget shortly after the start of the 2020/21 financial year which
will be reviewed in October 2020 and has requested a revised Business Plan for consideration by
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the half year. The Association has halted some non-urgent work, including planned
maintenance, and will consider this in October as part of the budget review.
Like everyone, lessons have been learned from the response to COVID-19. The Association
continues to modify their services to ensure they are adaptable and meet the needs of customers
in a changing world whilst ensuring high standards and financial stability is maintained.
Operational Highlights in 2019/20
Connect has had another productive year. During 2019/20 the Association has:


Delivered an additional 37 homes compared to a forecast of 35 (see later).



Achieved excellent operational performance, particularly in arrears management, with
total arrears at 2.6% (against a target of 4.1%) and ten evictions in the year which is
consistent with 2018-19. Tenancy turnover has also reduced slightly compared to the
previous year. As a result of our Neighbourly Places Strategy reports of anti-social
behaviour in 19/20 reduced by 54% compared to 18/19, with 51 cases compared to 110
in the previous year.



Various Treasury transactions were undertaken over the course of the year to lock in
historically low rates of interest on £14.7m of existing variable rate loans, saving over
£9m against rates projected over the life of the Business Plan.



Completed the first phase of the project to replace its I.T. platform and website to enable
greater digitisation and efficiency gains as part of a Business Transformation programme.
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Commenced a review of I.T infrastructure to maximise performance and security



Completed an independent branding review which included a very positive stakeholder
survey. The branding roll-out has been delayed due to inset of COVID-19 but should be
completed during 2020



Taken a leading role in partnerships, including chairing Leeds City Region’s Housing
Association partnership and achieving exceptional performance in Kirklees Better
Outcomes Partnership offering support to people in Kirklees and the Engage partnership
supporting the citizens of Leeds.



Invested more in the safety and condition of our homes and quality of our repairs service,
finalising a new compliance dashboard providing the Board with access to real-time data.



As part of our active asset management strategy, the Board approved a new ethical
disposals policy.



Had across the board increases in staff satisfaction ratings from the annual staff survey.



Successfully completed the triennial review of the pension and Total Reward package
with agreement to roll out a new benefits platform during 2020.
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Implemented Facebook
communication.



Implemented new Procurement and risk management software



Achieved a customer Net Promoter Score of plus 59



Anticipated the Covid-19 lockdown and mobilised all staff to work from home prior to
the official announcement.

Workplace

to

improve

employee

engagement

and

For more details see our 2020 annual report
Business and financial review
Turnover reduced to £19.6m (2019: £20.4m) as a result of lower first tranche shared ownership
sales.
Rent losses from voids and bad debts (expressed as % of income form lettings) at the year end
were 1.3 % (2019: 1.3%). The board considers void management to be a key performance
measure and continually reviews the percentage of void stock in management, re-let times
whilst investing in financial inclusion.
The net housing stock saw an increase to 3,517 (2019: 3,484) reflecting development work
being undertaken and the disposal of non-economic units, in line with our longer term asset
management strategy.
The operating surplus £3.74m (2019: £3.85m) although under some pressure from additional
compliance work remained broadly the same year-on-year.
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Strategic report (continued)
The Association’s five-year results are summarised below:
Five-year summary
2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

FRS102

FRS102

FRS102

FRS102

FRS102

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

19,602
3,738

20,436
3,854

18,001
3,904

17,048
3,843

16,972
3,281

3,301

523

2,523

2,072

670

Statement of Financial Position
Housing properties, net of depreciation and impairment
Other fixed assets
Investment properties
Debtors (after 1 yr)

126,117
2,578
4,943
350

125,695
2,240
4,943
413

121,293
2,279
4,943
344

116,407
2,534
4,943
422

115,019
2,088
4,943
344

Fixed assets
Net current assets/(liabilities)

133,988
(1,585)

133,291
(2,422)

128,515
(612)

123,884
(65)

122,050
(4,335)

Total assets less current liabilities

132,403

130,869

127,903

123,819

117,715

47,352
56,339
2,313
726
19,913
1,150
4,610
25,673

46,752
57,300
3,787
658
16,612
1,150
4,610
22,372

45,453
57,481
2,362
668
16,089
1,150
4,610
21,849

43,682
57,467
2,737
607
13,566
1,150
4,610
19,326

38,953
57,856
2,967
685
11,494
1,150
4,610
17,254

132,403

130,869

127,903

123,819

117,715

No.
3,273
240

No.
3,234
246

No.
3,187
246

No.
3,120
246

No.
3,090
246

3,513

3,480

3,433

3,366

3,336

19.07%
16.80%

18.90%
2.60%

21.69%
14.00%

22.50%
12.20%

19.30%
3.90%

1.30%

1.30%

1.50%

1.70%

2.10%

2.06%

1.95%

2.01%

2.00%

2.30%

3.4(2.8)
205%
0.7(0.9)
41.90%
37.60%

3.6(2.9)
213%
0.7(0.9)
43.40%
37.70%

4.0(3.2)
273%
0.9(1.3)
42.20%
37.90%

3.5(2.8)
223%
1.0(1.5)
41.20%
37.30%

2.9(2.3)
153%
0.4(0.5)
40.80%
36.10%

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Total turnover
Operating surplus
Total comprehensive income (surplus) for the year
transferred to reserves

Loans, DPF and RCGF (due after more than one year)
Deferred grant income (due after more than one year)
Provision for SHPS pension liability
Provision for other liabilities
Reserves : income and expenditure
: revaluation
: restricted
: total

Housing properties owned at year end:
Social housing
Non-social housing
Statistics
Operating surplus as % of turnover
TCI (surplus) for the year as % of turnover
Rent losses (voids and bad debts as % of rent & service
charges receivable)
Rent arrears (gross arrears as % of rent & service charges
receivable)
Interest cover (RBS/HBos)**
EBITDA-MRI
Liquidity (current assets divided by current liabilities)**
Gearing (total loans as % of capital grants plus reserves)
Gearing (total debt as % carrying value of properties)

**These ratios were affected by FRS102 ‘presentation’ changes for ‘2015 restated’ onwards with regards to amortised grant (Interest cover)
and deferred grant (Liquidity). For 5 year comparison purposes, the numbers initially shown are calculated under FRS 102 and any figures in
(brackets) are as calculated under old UK GAAP presentation rules with regard to these two grant elements.
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Treasury management and cashflow projections
The Association continues to manage its treasury activities tightly. The Association aims to draw
down long-term loans only when necessary, and ensure that funds which are not required in the
short term are invested to achieve the best possible return consistent with minimum risk. The
current cash balances and loan facilities will be sufficient to fund anticipated development work
during 2020/21.
Cashflows
The Association has seen a net decrease in cash during the period of £396,000 (2019:
£559,000 decrease). This decrease is in line with our treasury management policy of maintaining
a cash balance sufficient to fund the business going forward and, with the aid of easy access to
additional funds, we continue to invest in new affordable homes. The current cash balances and
remaining loan facilities will be sufficient to fund anticipated development work during 2020/21
along with the cashflow effects of COVID-19.
Principal Risks
The principal key risks facing the organisation include:
 Strategic: impact of COVID-19 over the short and long term, risk of Cyber Attack,
inadequate planning for economic challenges


Financial: welfare reform (income loss); funding availability, loss of contract income.



Compliance: impact of Health and Safety failure.



Operational: effective management of both existing housing stock and of new
development programmes, failure of crisis management.

Key Strategic Risk areas and sub risks and associated Internal Assurance
Key Strategic
Risk Area
Strategic

Compliance

Description

Internal Assurance

The impact of coronavirus across the
organisation, impacting tenants, staff
and the ability of the organisation to
meet business plan objectives
Impact of H&S failure in terms of
personal injury, regulatory status,
reputational damage, cost and
diversion from core business.

Business Continuity Plan, interim policies and
procedures in place, monitoring impact, financial
stress testing, revised budget, risk assessments
benchmarking, reporting to board and RoSH.
Compliance reporting to board, ARMC and
Leadership Team, policies and procedures in place,
quarterly Health and Safety Working Group,
training, annual internal audit of at least one health
and safety issue.
Monthly Project Vault Board overseeing
implementation includes an independent Critical
Friend skilled in I.T & project management. Project
Vault updates in LT reports to Board.
Information Management Strategy. Infrastructure
review. Security, Acceptable use, Confidentiality
and Data Protection policies. Processes in place to
minimise risk.

Strategic

IT system implementation fails to
deliver benefits and affects business
continuity and/or customer service.

Strategic

Connect systems are subject to cyber
attack rendering Connect’s IT systems
inoperable.

18

Movement

CONNECT HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED
Financial

Impacts of Welfare Reform (WR)
mean that Connect is unable to
generate sufficient income from
property letting to sustain core
activities, whilst at the same time
continuing to fulfill Connect’s social
objectives.
Inadequate internal and external
resources are available with sufficient
capacity and at acceptable cost to
maintain the Association’s stock to
an acceptable level that will sustain
demand in line with Connect’s
strategic objectives
Crisis management fails to secure
effective business continuity

Board annual review and approval of Budget and
Business Plan (BP); Annual certification by Board on
stress testing; BP performance reviewed quarterly
by Management Team (MT) / Group (MG) and
Board; Quarterly review of Welfare Reform ](WR)
Impact Assessment by MT.

Strategic

Strategic planning inadequate to
prepare Connect effectively for the
economic challenges (including
Brexit) ahead

Board annual review and approval of Budget and
BP including environment scans and SWOT analysis;
BP performance reviewed quarterly by MT / MG
and Board; Twice yearly Board seminars; MT and
MG planning days.

Financial

Loss of contract income, particularly
in Supported Housing, reducing
capacity for tenancy support, &
impacting on delivery of key BP
objectives.

BP Operational Plan updates to Board; MT updates
on contracts and new business; Annual Support
Services Strategy update to Board, part of Balanced
Scorecard reporting.

Strategic

Failure to identify and deal with stock
in light of changes in the Housing
Market

Asset and Liability Register, reporting to Leadership
Team and Board, annual Asset and Development
reviews. Business plan in place and regularly
reviewed, disrepair and disposals policies in place.

Financial

VFM objective to redirect resources
through efficiency savings to
investment in high quality front line
services, improving stock and
delivering new developments fails to
achieve planned results.

Strategic Leads; Annual Board VFM strategy; SelfAssessment statement; Quarterly financial reports
to the Board; Appropriate staff and Board training /
briefing sessions.

Strategic

Digitisation strategy fails to deliver
the service choice and efficiencies
that enable resources to be focused
on those customers in greatest need.

On-going review of IS systems (Project Vault);
Cyclical reviews of Comms and IS strategies to
Board; 6-mthly Money Matters report to MT.

Strategic

Failure to deliver the comprehensive
change-management programme at
the optimum pace

Three year change plan, reviewed annually with
updates at board. Performance management
framework in place, half yearly review of people
strategy to HRGC.

Financial

Pension liabilities continue to escalate
to a level that is no longer sustainable

Monthly MT monitoring of risk; Quarterly Board
monitoring; Annual Board review.

Financial

Operational
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Compliance monitoring, annual strategic reporting
to board on development and maintenance and
quarterly balanced scorecard. Additional budget in
place for 2020/21. Annual stock condition survey,
active asset management strategy. Expanding
customer insight and satisfaction feedback.
Lessons learned from response to C19, including
system improvements developed during the
response. Quarterly Business Continuity Plan (BCP)
e-battle box updates; Annual review of BCP
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Housing stock
The Board notes a small increase of 33 in the stock of property this year, with the total number
of homes in management now standing at 3,501. Property movements arise largely as a result of
proactive asset management.
Housing development and maintenance
In total, the Association undertook spend of £5.0 million (2019: £8.2 million) on the purchase
and refurbishment of housing stock and other assets during the year financed from current cash
balances and social housing grant. The carrying value of properties in the financial statements
(Historical cost less depreciation - excluding grant) is £126.1 million (2019: £125.7 million).
Future developments
Connect’s ambitions are set out in the over-arching strategy on page 12. The four strategic
objectives reflect the need to balance the prudent and constructive use of Connect’s financial
resources with the need to consolidate and develop its service standards and inherent financial
strength.
Connect will continue to participate fully in the active regeneration work which is a vital
ingredient of on-going strategy. However, the Association is fully aware of its obligations to
existing tenants, and any new development work will be undertaken having regard to the need
to protect and enhance the quality of existing services.
The Association recognises that it is not only providing homes, but also helping to build cohesive
communities, through initiatives which address social, economic and physical regeneration
issues. Its Neighbourly Places strategy places emphasis on working in partnership with tenants,
residents, Local Authorities and other partners to ensure that Connect supports people to create
the neighbourhoods they want to live in.
Connect Housing continues to respond to the changing investment agenda associated with
traditional development funding streams by exploring new partnerships and opportunities, that
can make a positive contribution towards its business plan objectives.
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Strategic report (continued)
Government rent reduction policy
The final year of the 1% rent reduction policy was in place with this affecting the majority of
social rents. The Association has stress tested a number of scenarios as part of its normal
Business Planning process and the current Business Plan encompasses this with an end date of
31 March 2021. Current financial forecasts demonstrate that Connect remains in a financially
strong position.

The Strategic report was approved on 22 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by

David Wolverson
Chair of the Board of Management

21

CONNECT HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Value for Money (VfM)
The Board confirmed its Vision and Purpose in 2019/20 and this sets out the broad direction for
our Value for Money (VfM) strategy, guiding how we allocate and prioritise expenditure on new
and existing activity. By supporting people and places to be the best that they can be, Connect is
making it clear that our service will not be based on a ‘no frills’, lowest cost model even in an
age of austerity. However, in these difficult times, this poses a greater challenge to ensure that
we make best use of our finite resources to provide the headroom in the Business Plan to invest
in activities that meet the objectives identified in our strategy mapping framework:
-

we will maximise revenue to invest in communities through innovative
growth;

-

we will retain and grow our customer base by offering good value to our
customers – our homes and services will be affordable and

-

we will minimise costs to a level appropriate to the social impact of our
work i.e. we will not be the lowest cost in our field.

Connect has not fundamentally changed its social purpose but we have increased our ambitions
regarding development and explicitly stated that we want to be part of the solution to the crisis
of homelessness (Valued Homes). We have re-affirmed our commitment to offering support
services and using our resources for the good of the communities in which we work (Valued
People and Valued Neighbourhoods) whilst understanding and reflecting our environmental
impact through (Valued Planet). Our business transformation programme is integral to all this
and embeds Value for Money.
What VfM means to Connect
‘Value for Money’ is a term used to assess whether or not an organisation has obtained the
maximum benefit from the goods and services it acquires and provides, within the resources
available to it. Achieving VfM is often described in terms of the ‘three Es’ and we extend this (for
Connect’s approach to VFM) to include ‘Equity’ as a fourth ‘E’. This is to emphasise that
decisions will be taken in line with our Values and commitment to communities, meaning that
the VALUE element of VfM means a lot to us:
 Equity – ensuring services are delivered fairly to a wide range of customers in line
with Connect’s Values;


Economy – careful use of resources to save expense, time or effort;



Efficiency – delivering the same level of service for less cost, time or effort and



Effectiveness – delivering a better service or getting a better return for the same
amount of expense, time or effort.

A key objective of Connect’s Business Plan is to deliver affordable quality in homes and services.
Through VfM Connect aims to ensure:
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resources are available to achieve the association’s Business Plan objectives and key
priorities;



a balance between cost, quality and performance and



a high level of customer satisfaction.

It is generally accepted that VfM is about:
 doing the right things (what customers want and what the business needs);


doing things right (first time);



at the right price (not necessarily the cheapest) and



in the right way (the most streamlined way that meets requirements).

The VfM savings we made in 2019/20
Connect’s 2019/20 Budget included VfM savings across the business of £284k including scaling
back on expenditure levels where feasible or tighter operational targets. Fortunately, in terms of
operational performance and VFM, Covid19 occurred towards the end of the financial year and
so had limited impact on financial results.
Turnover for 2019/20 performed in line with budget at £17.8m (excluding first tranche sales).
Outturn Rent arrears (before write-offs) for 2019/20 were 2.6% favourable against a target of
4.1%, with total arrears at the yearend of £357k against a budget of £554k. Void rental loss for
the year was 0.88% adverse against the annual target of 0.81%. Void loss at year end showed a
slight adverse outturn against budget of £10k or 9% (£119k actual against £109k budget).
Our Money Matters (economic inclusion) team have supported an increasing number of tenants
moving onto Universal Credit (UC), with personal contact made in every case; and the highest
number of cases dealt with in any year so far. 289 tenants transitioned onto UC during the year.
The team has achieved an overall business saving of £639,114 (up from £298,408 in 2018-19)
by bringing in rental income via Discretionary Housing Payments or Alternative Payment
Arrangements, through the prevention of court action/eviction and reductions in rent arrears. In
addition, a total annual saving of £722,648 has been generated for tenants (up from £654,768
last year). This represents additional benefits and savings for tenants, which they may not have
received without the intervention of the Money Matters team. Using the HACT social impact
calculator savings of £3,053,033 have been identified (up from £1,880,556 last year) and for
each £1 invested in the service, £17.90 has been generated in social value.
The budgeted profit on sale of all Housing Properties was £125k and the outturn was £510k
which is a favourable difference of £385k as continued business emphasis has been placed on
asset management including more development and turnover of un-economic units.
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The budgeted operating expenditure (excluding first tranche sales) for 2019/20 was £14.3m and
the outturn was £14.9m - which is £600k over the original agreed budget. Much of this variance
relates to Maintenance / Compliance expenditure / investment (see below for further details).
Interest and Financing costs for 2019/20 were £2.15m against a budget of £2.39m which is a
favourable outturn of £240k, reflecting lower than anticipated interest rates in conjunction with
more favourable rates from our most recent re-financing exercise. By way of example, fixing a
floating rate loan at a historically low, long term rate of interest payable is estimated to have
saved the Association in the region of £9m over the life of the Business Plan over what had
previously been assumed.
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Our VfM metrics for 2017/18 through to 2019/20
The tables below shows Connect’s VfM metrics (based on the Sector Scorecard), for the last
three financial years alongside the latest available comparison data (2018/19). Definitions can be
found at the end of this VFM section.
VfM – Investment in Homes
Table 1

Metric

Connect
Housing
Outturn

Connect
Housing
Outturn

Peer
Group

CPU Year

2017/18

2018/19

2018/19

Closing Social
Housing units
owned and/or
in management

Metric 1:
Re-investment
%

3,191

7.78%

3,238

7.34%

33,278

7.38%

(All)

Connect
Housing
Outturn

Connect
Housing
Target

Outturn
to target
Variance

2018/19

2019/20

2019/20

2019/20

2,733,286

6.15%

3,277

4.29%

3,247

6.30%

Metric 2a: New
supply
delivered social housing

2.57%

2.32%

1.61%

1.33%

1.40%

2.10%

Metric 2b: New
supply
delivered - non
social housing

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

30

Active asset
management
activities with 46
new homes
acquired/developed
and 13 disposed

-2.0%

Re-investment
varies from year to
year as it follows the
budgeted profiles of
the development
programme and the
planned repairs
programme.

-0.7%

Higher than the
sector median and
slightly below the
peers with
commitment to
increase supply in
line with our
Development
Strategy

0.00%

Metric 3:
Gearing %age

35.6%

36.0%

36.0%

43.9%

36.2%

39.4%

-3.2%

Metric 4:
EBITDA-MRI %

254.0%

213.0%

201.6%

182.6%

205.0%

245.0%

-40.0%
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Comments

N/A
Lower than the
Sector Median but
slightly higher then
Peers, Gearing rises
as external funding
increases to
maintain a
sustainable
development
programme
Higher than Peers
and Sector Median.
EBITDA % reduces
due to increased
debt used to fund
development
programme and
higher levels of
compliance
spending
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The development programme in 2019/20, although more modest than the previous year,
exceeded expectations in delivering an additional 37 new homes (compared to the forecast of
35). 11 of these properties were funded in part through the Affordable Homes programme with
the remainder being acquired through section 106 agreements. 11 were for Social Rent, 6 for
Affordable Rent and 20 for Shared Ownership. Alongside this work, the Development Team has
put a considerable amount of work into pursuing new development opportunities, and now has
a prospective pipeline of approaching 300 homes to be delivered over the next 4-5 years. Work
has begun, in line with the Association’s response to the Climate Emergency and the new
Valued Planet theme in the Business Plan, to upgrade the standard development specification
towards zero-carbon homes. This will also benefit tenants directly through addressing fuel
poverty and providing affordable warmth.
In 2019/20 Connect completed 386 independent stock condition surveys towards our rolling
programme of surveying the whole stock (circa 3038) over a 5 year period, representing a
further 13% of stock to be surveyed. The data has provided additional validation for the major
repairs investment projections included in the business plan. 745 (24.5%) condition surveys are
planned for the coming year. In total at the end of 2020 (including the above surveys) we will
have accurate, recent (less than 5 years old) surveys for 75% of our stock.
Following on from the Active Asset Management Strategy that was approved in 2019, the Board
approved an Ethical Disposals Policy relating to the disposal of older rehab stock that had
previously been identified as performing poorly across a range of financial and social indicators.
Some 198 properties in total have been categorised as having potential for disposal at the time
they next become vacant, with the proceeds (c. £18m at current values) to be reinvested in the
delivery of new homes.
The average Net Present Value (NPV) for dispersed properties is £18k compared to £31k for
scheme-based properties. Customer satisfaction with the home is 10 percentage points lower in
dispersed stock compared to scheme-based properties. By gradually disposing of our older,
expensive to maintain stock and investing proceeds in new build schemes we aim to control
maintenance expenditure and progressively improve the long term financial return from our
assets whilst also improving customer satisfaction with the homes we provide. In 2019/20,
Connect disposed of 8 such properties, generating receipts of £583k.
To complement our approach to disposals, we continue to explore a number of opportunities to
acquire new stock, providing that this is financially attractive, complements our existing stock
and will allow us to further our objectives. During 2019/20 we undertook due diligence on two
potential stock transfer opportunities and, whilst not ultimately not successful, both provided
valuable experience of asset management evaluations.
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How our costs compare with our peer group, the sector’s and budget.
The table below compares our Cost per Unit (CPU) with medians for our peers and the sector
as a whole – the only comparison figures currently available relate to 2018/19. Detail of our
Peer Group and definitions can be found at the end of this VfM Self-assessment.
Table 2

Connect

Connect

Connect

Connect

Outturn

Housing

Housing

Peer

Housing

Housing

to target

Metric

Outturn

Outturn

Group

(All)

Outturn

Target

Variance

CPU Year

2017/18

2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

2019/20

2019/20

2019/20

£ 3,649

£ 3,876

£ 3,731

£ 3,622

£ 3,904

£ 3,679

6%

£ 3,362

£ 3,622

£ 3,622

£ 3,622

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Headline social
housing cost per
unit £
Median social
housing cost per
unit (2018/19)
Variance

£
£

Variance %age

287

£

8.54%

254

109

7.01%

3.01%

Management
CPU

£

866

£

929

£ 1,005

£

989

£

901

£

935

-4%

£

254

£

272

£

£

401

£

257

£

246

4%

Service charge
CPU

293

Maintenance
CPU

£ 1,185

£ 1,311

£ 1,117

£ 1,004

£ 1,413

£ 1,204

17%

£

522

£

597

£

830

£

737

£

573

£

519

10%

£

822

£

766

£

246

£

214

£

761

£

775

-2%

Major repairs
CPU
Other social
housing CPU

Although Connect’s headline social housing cost per unit (SHCPU) has fallen from a high of
£4207 per unit in 2015/16 additional maintenance and compliance pressures in subsequent
years has resulted in a steady increase to £3,904 in 2019/20. This outturn remains higher than
both the peer group median (£3731) and also the Sector median (£3622), but the gap has
narrowed significantly. Connect’s commitment to Supported Housing activities reflected in the
much higher levels of ‘Other Social Housing ‘ expenditure also needs to be considered. For
example, excluding the £350 cost per unit from ‘Other Social Housing’ expenditure relating to
the Engage support contract (for older people with dementia and complex housing related
support needs), would reduce Connect’s overall 2018/19 SHCPU from £3876 to £3526 which is
below the 2018/19 Sector median (£3622) and the peer group median (£3,731).
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Connect’s 2019/20 SHCPU outturn (£3904) was 6% above budget, and is still expected to
remain above the 2019/20 Sector median. Two areas in particular help to explain this outturn
position:
(i)

Maintenance costs – 2019/20 has been a challenging year in terms of service delivery
and cost and budget management resulting in a 5.5% year-on-year spend increase.
Responsive repairs continue to be a top priority for our customers, and this service
receives significant investment as a result. During the year we introduced a new
service-specific IT system to aid the administration and tracking of repair works, and
whilst we continue to transition to the new software across all maintenance services,
it is already showing its value in this respect. A procurement exercise on our van fleet
is planned to further reduce our current cost base.
Connect continues to move maintenance activity to an in-house team when cost
effective to do so and as further efficiencies are made, and the association grows it
stock, the cost per unit are expected to fall back much closer to the sector median.
Voids Maintenance had its first full year of in-sourced operation and was reviewed
and adapted mid-year with costs coming down in the later part of the year.
Compliance testing remains a high priority for Connect with an additional £132k
above budget being invested in electrical testing and upgrade work helping us to
accelerate the pace of our programme to achieve 5 year cyclical testing in this area.
Compliance spend is forecast to maintain this momentum into future years.
A one off in year cost of £150k has also been charged in the year for dilapidations on
a lease property that is to be handed back after coming to the end of its lease.
The Major Repairs programme was delivered in good time and within 6% of the
budget costs, with additional roofing and window replacement work delivering
additional value for money in the Association’s housing stock.

(ii)
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Other Costs – Compared to the Sector more widely and its peers, Connect continues
to offer a wider range of support services to those in need where financially viable. A
good example of this commitment is the Engage contract that has been in place for
three years to deliver support services (for older people with dementia and enduring
mental health conditions) in partnership with other providers. Although financially
viable, and in line with Connect’s strategic priorities, such activities do increase the
level of Connect’s base line costs. Excluding the costs of Engage would reduce
Connect’s ‘Other Social Housing’ costs per unit, and thus the overall SHCPU, by £350
per unit.
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VFM – Efficiency
Table 3

Metric
CPU Year
Metric 6a:
Operating
margin
%age from
social
housing
lettings

Metric 6b:
Operating
margin
%age –
overall

Metric 7:
Return on
capital
employed.

Connect
Housing
Outturn

Connect
Housing
Outturn

Peer
Group

2017/18

2018/19

2018/19

26.1%

21.7%

3.3%

20.4%

18.9%

3.2%

20.8%

19.3%

3.0%

(All)

Connect
Housing
outturn

Connect
Housing
Target

Outturn
to target
Variance

2018/19

2019/20

2019/20

2019/20

29.7%

27.2%

3.8%

18.9%

19.1%

3.2%

21.5%

20.2%

2.9%

Comments

-2.6%

Year-on-year
slight fall in
margin reflects
the final year
of 1% rent
reductions
plus increased
operational
and
compliance
expenditure

-1.1%

Increased
margin due to
better sales
mix on low
cost and
shared
ownership
sales.

0.3%

The return on
capital is
above peers
and Budget
but below the
Sector Median

Connect’s operating margin from social housing lettings (18.9%) was slightly below budget
(21.5%) and below the Sector median (29.7%) but more in line with peers (20.8%) and has
reduced less than both of these sector measures during 2019/20. Excluding the impact of Low
cost /Shared Ownership sales , social housing letting turnover has increased by only 1.3% during
19/20 with the final year of 1% rent reductions impacting on the increase in new housing stock
rentals. Like for like costs have however risen by 3.2% with compliance spending remaining a
key area of focus and expenditure.
In terms of the overall operating margin, the volume of Low cost / Shared Ownership sales has
decreased from £2.9m to £1.8m but sales margins have increased from 25.6% to 44.3%
reflecting both a different mix of property type and greater percentage share sold. Overall
Margin has therefore increased year on year from 18.9% to 19.1%, but below our peers
(19.3%).
The continued investment into both new and existing homes has seen our Return on Capital
Employed remain constant at 3.2% in 2019/20 with Connect investing £1.6m capital in Major
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Repairs and £1.38m revenue in Planned maintenance. Increased activity in electrical safety and
fire safety was also undertaken, following, respectively, our move to a 5-year testing cycle, and
comprehensive fire safety review undertaken independently by Savills. Over the next 5 years,
Connect is projecting capital investment of £8.2m in improving its stock. During the year we
have updated our definition of major investment activity to bring it into line with others in the
sector, and this means we are now reporting 30 year investment projections of £26k per
property on average. However, in the short term, major repairs investment has been paused
during the Covid-19 crisis both to support financial stability and because of the additional costs
and inefficiencies that would be experienced trying to deliver scheme-wide improvement
projects where significant numbers of tenants would be refusing works. The business plan has
been updated to reflect the ongoing requirement for higher levels of annual spend on
compliance areas than has historically been the case.
VFM – Effectiveness
Table 4

VFM
Measure
CPU Year
Customers
satisfied
with
overall
service

Current
Tenant
arrears

Former
Tenant
arrears

Void Loss

30

Connect
Housing
Outturn

Connect
Housing
Outturn

Peer
Group

2017/18

2018/19

2018/19

(All)

Connect
Housing
Outturn

Connect
Housing
Target

Outturn
to target
Variance

2018/19

2019/20

2019/20

2019/20

87.5%

87.2%

87.2%

86.0%

86.9%

90.0%

-3.1%

2.01%

1.95%

2.98%

2.86%

2.06%

3.30%

-1.24%

0.70%

0.9%

0.60%

0.76%

0.50%

0.95%

1.21%

0.94%

0.59%

0.88%

0.80%

0.81%

Comments

Lower than
target but
broadly in line
with peers and
the Sector
median
Arrears
remaining
steady in
challenging
environment.
Outperforming
budget and
benchmarking

-0.21%

Outperforming
both Budget
and Sector
Median, but
above Peers.

0.07%

Outperforming
Peers and
Sector Median
but marginally
over Budget in
ever more
challenging
environment.
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Customer satisfaction with the overall service received from Connect has remained consistent at
86.9% in the period ending March 2020, a marginal decrease from 87.2% when compared to
the previous year. It remains 3% below target. Performance analysis shows no underlying
reasons for areas of dissatisfaction. Satisfaction with the quality of the neighbourhood increased
slightly. Other areas remained steady (including satisfaction with Value for Money at 88%), with
the exception of ‘Views taken into account’ which saw a more significant fall from 83% to
80.4%. We are conscious that the range and quality of the data we collect can be improved,
along with our systems for analysing and learning from it, and this is a priority for the coming
year as part of our Business Transformation programme.
During the year we have broadened engagement with customers; whilst continuing to support
and work with the Connect Resident’s Federation, our critical friend. The Service Improvement
Forum (SIF), that scrutinises performance and holds us to account, was expanded with new
members and a wider remit. During the year the SIF continued to feed tenant priorities into the
business and change planning process. Engagement in re-branding consultations during the year
resulted in 116 customers indicating an appetite for further involvement.
Across 2019/20 we have been measuring the NetPromoter Score (NPS) for Connect and our year
end performance was +59 (NPS range is -100 to +100). This is an excellent result. NPS measures
the percentage of Promoters of an organisation (Advocates who will readily recommend) against
the volume of Detractors (Those who actively dislike the organisation). Connect had 71.2%
Promoters and 12.8% Detractors.
In July 2020 Connect will be trialling a new digital survey tool. This allows for an increase the
channels we can access to obtain feedback, and it is envisaged this will significantly increase the
volume of feedback received as well. Results are presented in real time, and an actionable
format and we believe this will transform how we receive and respond to customer feedback. In
addition, the new Customer Relationship Management system that was due to be launched in
the previous period is now scheduled to be deployed in the summer of 2020. Once again, this
will have a significant impact on the way we manage customer contact and will allow us to
focus on offering higher levels of service. Customer Service training is due to be delivered as
part of the roll out of the new system.
The Association is also progressing with a major IT project (Project Vault) to replace all of its main
business systems. Three products were pushed live in Maintain (Repairs) and Agile (Mobile)
during 2019/20. In April 2020, the finance module was deployed on which many of the other
Castleton Products have a dependency and the Association is currently dual running this module
with its existing Finance system. On successful sign-off of this module, the Association’s plan is
to deploy 80% of the Castleton Products by the end of the 2020/21 period. Benefit Realisation
will begin in earnest in 2021/22 and this will be monitored by the Project Vault Board, which in
turn reports to the Board of Management.
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Our projected VfM metrics
The table below details our outturn Sector Scorecard metrics for 2019/20 and projections for the
next four years.
Table 5

Metric
CPU Year
Closing Social
Housing units
owned and/or
in
management

Metric 1: Reinvestment %

Connect
Housing
Association
Ltd

Connect
Housing
Association
Ltd

Connect
Housing
Association
Ltd

Connect
Housing
Association
Ltd

Connect
Housing
Association
Ltd

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

3,277

4.29%

3,214

9.76%

3,313

4.21%

3,343

Increased homes
reflecting current (near
term) development
pipeline.

3.09%

Re-investment varies from
year to year in line with
the development and
repairs programmes.

3,323

3.03%

Metric 2a:
New supply
delivered social housing

Metric 2b:
New supply
delivered non social
housing

Metric 3:
Gearing %age

1.40%

2.36%

2.99%

0.30%

0.60%

New supply numbers
reflect current near term
development and asset
management activity as at
March 2020.

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

N/A

18.16%

Increased Gearing reflects
current development and
asset management
activity.
The EBITDA %age reduces
in line with the
development and asset
management
programmes, but remains
well above lender
covenant requirements.
In real terms (i.e.
excluding inflation)
“Headline Costs" falls as
more homes come into
management.
Operating margin
decrease through
continued compliance
spending and will then
improve in line with
Development activity.

36.2%

39.4%

38.9%

39.0%

39.0%

205.0%

223.0%

211.0%

205.0%

186.0%

Metric 4:
EBITDA-MRI %
Metric 5:
Headline
social housing
cost per unit
£3,904
Metric 6a:
Operating
margin %age
from social
housing
lettings
Metric 6b:
Operating
margin %age
– overall
Metric 7:
Return on
capital
employed.
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Comments

18.9%

£4,010

15.93%

£4,179

17.07%

£4,273

17.98%

£4,430

19.1%

22.13%

21.53%

22.21%

20.4%

Operating margin
gradually improving in line
with Development activity.

3.21%

3.21%

3.25%

2.89%

2.82%

In line with planned asset
management activities.

CONNECT HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED
Summary
This section of the financial statements outlines:





How important VfM is in achieving Connect’s strategic objectives;
The VfM savings we made in 2019/20 and what we did with the extra resources;
How our operating costs (i.e. CPUs) compare with others;
Our performance in relation to the VfM metrics and what we expect the projected figures
to be.

Because of the data and comments shown in the tables above the Board is confident that the
requirements of the VfM standard have been complied with.

Benchmarking and definitions
In consultation with HouseMark (a leading housing sector benchmarking organisation) our peer
group was previously increased from 6 to 13 organisations and is now based on all North East,
Yorkshire and Humberside housing associations with between 1000 and 5000 units as shown
below:
Table 6
Registered provider

Housing units owned and/or managed

Arches Housing Limited

1,200

Byker Community Trust Ltd

1,783

Connect Housing Association Ltd

3,238

Dale and Valley homes Ltd

4,182

Durham Aged Mineworkers Association

1,775

Leeds and Yorkshire Housing Association Ltd

1,571

Leeds Federated Housing Association Ltd

4,206

North Star Housing Group Ltd

3,686

Pickering and Ferens Homes

1,337

Railway Housing Association and Benefit Fund

1,504

South Yorkshire Housing Association Ltd

5,379

The Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust

2,117

Unity Housing Association Ltd

1,280
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Key to VfM metrics
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1.

Reinvestment % - this metric calculates the investment in properties we have made (existing and new) as a percentage
of the total value of all our properties;

2.

New supply % - the number of housing units developed or acquired as percentage of the total stock;

3.

Gearing % - how much of the adjusted assets are made up of debt – shows the degree of dependence on debt
finance;

4.

EBITDA-MRI % - Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (including Major Repairs). Measures the
surplus generated compared to the interest payable;

5.

Headline social housing cost per unit – measures total social housing costs divided by the number of units owned or
managed;

6.

Operating margin % - a measure of profitability or financial efficiency of a business. Specialist providers tend to have
lower margins than average;

7.

Return on capital employed % - compares operating surplus to total assets (less current liabilities) and used in the
commercial sector as a measure of assessing efficient investment of capital resources.

CONNECT HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Connect
Housing Association Limited
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Connect Housing Association Limited for the year
ended 31 March 2020 which comprise Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of
Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Reserves, Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion, the financial statements:




give a true and fair view of the state of the society’s affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of
its profit for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice;
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Co-operative and
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and the Accounting Direction for Private
Registered Providers of Social Housing from April 2015.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK)
require us to report to you where:
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the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is not appropriate; or
the Board has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the society’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from
the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

CONNECT HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED
Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Cooperative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our
opinion:





a satisfactory system of controls over transactions has not been maintained; or
the society has not kept proper accounting records; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the books of account; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of the Board
As explained more fully in the Board’s responsibilities statement set out on page 5, the Board is
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give
a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the society’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board either intends to liquidate the
society or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the society's members as a body in accordance with the Cooperative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the society's members those matters we are required to state to them in
an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the society and the society's members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Crowe U.K. LLP
Statutory Auditor
The Lexicon
Mount Street
Manchester
M2 5NT
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Statement of Comprehensive Income (SoCI)
for the year ended 31 March 2020
2020
£'000

2019
£'000

19,602
(15,864)
3,738

20,436
(16,582)
3,854

6

510

310

7
8

74
(2,147)
2,175

69
(2,079)
2,154

23

1,126

(1,631)

3,301

523

Note
Turnover
Operating costs
Operating surplus

3
3
3,5

Gain on disposal of fixed assets (nonoperational)
Interest receivable and other income
Interest and financing costs
Surplus for the year
Actuarial profit / (loss) in respect of pension
schemes
Total comprehensive income for the year

The Association’s results relate wholly to continuing activities.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Management
on 22 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

David Wolverson (Chair)

Alison Leech (Vice Chair)

Helen Lennon (Secretary)
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Statement of Changes in Reserves (SoCR)
as at 31 March 2020
Income and
expenditure
reserve
£'000

Restricted Revaluation
reserve
reserve
£'000
£'000

Total
£'000

Balance as at 1 April 2018
Surplus for the year
Initial recognition of actuarial
loss
Actuarial gain in respect of
pension schemes
Transfer of restricted
expenditure from unrestricted
reserve
Balance at 31 March 2019

16,089
2,154

4,610
-

1,150
-

21,849
2,154

(2,210)

-

-

(2,210)

579

-

-

579

-

-

-

-

16,612

4,610

1,150

22,372

Surplus for the year
Actuarial gain in respect of
pension schemes
Balance as at 31 March 2020

2,175

-

-

2,175

1,126

-

-

1,126

19,913

4,610

1,150

25,673

Please see Note 2 for an explanation of the above reserves
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Statement of Financial Position (SoFP)
as at 31 March 2020
Note

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets - housing properties
Other tangible fixed assets
Investment properties
Debtors falling due after more than one year

12
13
14

126,117
2,578
4,943
350
133,988

125,695
2,240
4,943
413
133,291

Current assets
Properties held for sale
Trade and other debtors
Cash and cash equivalents

15
16

93
1,158
2,156
3,407

64
1,377
2,552
3,993

17

(4,992)

(6,415)

(1,585)
132,403

(2,422)
130,869

Creditors: amounts falling due within one
year
Net current assets / (liabilities)
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more
than one year

18

103,691

104,052

Provisions for liabilities
- Pension provision SHPS
- Other provisions

23
24

2,313
726

3,787
658

25,673

22,372

19,913
1,150
4,610
25,673

16,612
1,150
4,610
22,372

Total net assets
Reserves
Income and expenditure reserve
Revaluation reserve
Restricted reserve
Total reserves

SoCR

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Management
on 22 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:
David Wolverson (Chair)
Alison Leech (Vice Chair)
Helen Lennon (Secretary)
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Statement of Cash Flows (SoCF)
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Net cash generated from operating
activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets
Grants received
Interest received and similar income

Note

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

27

5,128

6,162

6
19
7

(5,014)
1,059
595
74
(3,286)

(8,255)
621
1,316
69
(6,249)

(2,206)
9,500
(9,532)
(2,238)

(2,043)
2,000
(429)
(472)

(396)
2,552
2,156

(559)
3,111
2,552

Cash flow from financing activities
Interest paid
New secured loans
Repayments of borrowings

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 March 2020
1. Legal status
The Association is registered, in Leeds, England, under the Co-operative and Community Benefit
Societies Act 2014 and is a registered provider of social housing with charitable status. The
Association registration number and details of the registered office are included in the
Association information on page ii.
2. Accounting policies
Basis of accounting and Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Association are prepared under the historical cost convention in
accordance with applicable accounting standards, namely, UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (UK GAAP) including Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and the Housing SORP
2018 Update: Statement of Recommended Practice for Registered Social Housing Providers and
comply with the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015.
In preparing the Strategic Report and the Report of the Board of Management, the Board has
followed the principles set out in the latest Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting by
registered social housing providers (SORP).
The financial reporting framework that has been applied is applicable to law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (FRS 102 - United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice).
The Associations’ financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102 for the
period ended 31 March 2020. They are presented in Sterling (£) to the nearest £’000.
Connect Housing Association is a public benefit entity in accordance with FRS 102.
Going concern
At the reporting date the Association had net current liabilities of £1.384m (2019: net current
liabilities of £2.009m). The Association currently has in place debt facilities which provide
adequate resources to finance committed reinvestment and development programmes, along
with the Associations day to day operations for the foreseeable future, and the Board of
Management has no reason to believe that continued financing will not be made available in the
future. The Association also has a long-term business plan which shows that it is able to service
these debt facilities whilst continuing to comply with lender’s covenants.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 March 2020
As a result of the impact of COVID-19 on the wider economy the Association has continued to
stress test the various scenarios, whilst closely monitoring arrears, re-let times and overall
financial position. The Board of Management also approved a revised COVID-19 Budget shortly
after the start of the financial year and has requested a revised Business Plan for consideration by
the half year. The Association continues to modify their services to ensure they are adaptable
and meet the needs of customers in a changing world whilst ensuring high standards and
financial stability is maintained. The Association’s business activities, its current financial position
and factors likely to affect its future development are set out in detail within the Strategic
Report.
On this basis, the Board of Management has a reasonable expectation that the Association has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a
period of at least twelve months after the date on which the report and financial statements are
signed. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in the financial statements.
Significant judgements and estimates
Preparation of the financial statements requires management to make significant judgements
and estimates. The items in the financial statements where these judgements and estimates have
been made include:
Significant management judgements
The following are the significant management judgements made in applying the accounting
policies of the Association that have the most significant effect on the financial statements.
Impairment
As part of the Association’s continuous review of housing asset performance, management
identify any schemes that have significant void losses, are impacted by policy changes, or where
the decision has been made to dispose of properties. These factors are considered to be an
indication of impairment.
Where there is evidence of impairment, the assets are written down to the recoverable amount
and any impairment losses are charged to operating surpluses.
The process for estimating the recoverable amount of housing assets is as follows:
Determine the level at which recoverable amount is to be assessed (the asset or cash-generating
unit (CGU) level). The CGU level was determined to be an individual scheme;
Estimate the recoverable amount of the CGU (market value less costs to sell);
Calculate the carrying amount of the CGU (cost less depreciation and grant) and;
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At 31 March 2020
Compare the carrying amount to the recoverable amount to determine if an impairment loss has
occurred i.e. where the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
Where the carrying amount of a scheme is deemed to exceed its recoverable amount, the
scheme is written down to its recoverable amount. The resulting impairment loss is recognised as
operating expenditure. Where a scheme is currently deemed not to be providing service
potential to the Association, its recoverable amount is its fair value less costs to sell (where we
are free to sell the property on the open market this is essentially market value less costs to sell).
Based on this assessment, management has concluded that no impairments are required this
year.
Classification of loans as Basic or Complex financial instruments
The accounting treatment for loans classed as ‘basic’ is different than for those classed as
‘complex’ under FRS 102. This accounting treatment is explained later in note 2.
The Associations non-standard financial instruments impacted by this decision predominantly
consist of loan borrowings including fixed and floating rate loans. In order to determine the
nature of these loans, management enlisted the services of Capita Asset Services (Sector) to
undertake an independent review of all of the Associations loan agreements. The result of this
review was that all of the Associations loans have been deemed as basic and are therefore held
at amortised historical cost.
Loans including two-way break clauses:
To assess any potential impact of the above on our current loan classifications management
asked our Treasury adviser (Capita Asset Services) to confirm their understanding. In their
opinion the inclusion of two-way break provisions in our loan agreements does not affect the
accountancy treatment of the loans under FRS 102, and does not require them to be treated as
anything other than basic instruments.
Classification of leases as Operating or Finance
The accounting treatment for leases classed as ‘operating’ is different than for those classed as
‘finance’ under FRS 102. Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the
Association. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The Associations leases relate to
office equipment, office space, office car parking, vans and laundry equipment.
Following review, and in light of the above, management have determined that all of the
Association’s leases are operating leases and are therefore accounted for as such.
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The Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income and expenditure on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, unless the rental payments are structured to increase in
line with expected general inflation, in which case the Association recognises annual rent
expense equal to amounts owed to the lessor.
Government grants policy option
Government grants include grants receivable from the Homes England, local authorities, and
other government organisations. Under FRS 102, government grants must be accounted for
using the accruals model or the performance model. This accounting treatment is explained later
in note 2.
As the Association accounts for its properties at cost, management have adopted the accruals
model for government grants, as required by SORP 2018 Update. Non-government grants
(although not applicable) would be accounted for using the performance model.
Under the accruals model, government grants are allocated to the property structure (for
amortisation period purposes only) and amortised over the useful economic life of that structure.
The unamortised amount is held within deferred income.
Estimation uncertainty
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below.
Actual results may be substantially different.
Useful lives of depreciable assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful economic lives of depreciable assets at each
reporting date based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate
to technological obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software and IT equipment
and changes to decent homes standards which may require more frequent replacement of key
components. In terms of housing properties the on-going appropriateness of the component list
(covered later in note 2) is considered alongside the useful lives of the components annually as
part of the Asset Management Strategy reviews. Accumulated depreciation (as per notes 12 and
13) at 31 March 2020 was £56.831 million (2018:£53.722 million).
Investment properties
Investment properties are commercial properties and other properties that are not held for social
benefit. Management have determined that two of our Commercial & Student accommodation
schemes (063 New York Street and 075 Royal Park Flats – Unipol) should be accounted for as
45

CONNECT HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 March 2020
investment properties. In line with FRS 102 requirements these investment properties were
initially valued as at 13th February 2015 (Royal Park Flats) and 6th May 2014 (New York Street).
These valuations were undertaken by Ryden LLP, professional external valuers, who are a Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors Regulated firm. As a result, Ryden ensures its processes and
valuations are fully compliant with the Professional Standards (incorporating the International
Valuation Standards) January 2014. Investment properties have been valued based on the
market value of the properties subject to the existing tenancies.
Further formal valuations are to be undertaken every 5 years. In between these formal valuations
management expertise will be used in order to determine whether any interim revaluations are
necessary. In the year ending 31st March 2020 there was no revaluation applied to these
properties which reflects management expert input at that time.
Turnover and revenue recognition
Turnover comprises rental income receivable in the year from tenants and leaseholders, income
from shared ownership first tranche sales, sales of properties built for sale and other services
included at the invoiced value (excluding VAT where recoverable) of goods and services supplied
in the year and revenue grants receivable in the year.
Rental income is recognised from the point when properties under development reach practical
completion or otherwise become available for letting, net of any voids. Income from first tranche
sales and properties built for sale is recognised at the point of legal completion of the sale.
Revenue grants are receivable when the conditions for the receipt of agreed grant funding have
been met. Charges for support services funded under Supporting People are recognised as they
fall due under the contractual arrangements with Administering Authorities.
Value Added Tax
The Association charges Value Added Tax (VAT) on some of its income and is able to recover
part of the VAT it incurs on expenditure. The financial statements include VAT to the extent that
it is suffered by the Association and not recoverable from HM Revenue and Customs. The
balance of VAT payable or recoverable at the year end is included as a current liability or asset.
Interest payable
Interest is allocated at a constant rate on the carrying amount over the period of the borrowing,
and is charged to income and expenditure in the year.
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Financial instruments
Financial instruments which meet the criteria of a basic financial instrument as defined in Section
11 of FRS 102 are accounted for under an amortised historic cost model and thus recognised at
amortised historical cost.
Complex financial instruments are recognised at fair value using a valuation technique with any
gains or losses being reported in surplus or deficit. At each year end, the instruments are
revalued to fair value, with the movements posted to the income and expenditure.
Following independent review of our loan agreements all of the Associations financial
instruments have been deemed as basic and are therefore recognised at amortised historical
cost.
Debtors
Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment.
Creditors
Short term trade creditors are measured at transaction price.
Employee Benefits
Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Pensions
The Association participates in an industry-wide multi-employer pension scheme offering a
number of defined benefit schemes (DBS) as well as a defined contribution scheme; the Social
Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS). Previously, it has not been possible to identify the share of
underlying assets and liabilities belonging to individual participating employers but this was
remedied in 2018/19 so the (DBS) is now accounted for under FRED 71. Management’s
recognition of the Defined Benefit Obligation is as advised by the SHPS administrators and
independently reviewed by First Actuarial. This estimate is based on a number of critical
underlying assumptions such as standard rates of inflation, mortality, discount rate and
anticipation of future salary increases. Variation in these assumptions may significantly impact
the liability and the annual defined benefit expenses (as analysed in Note 23). The liability at 31
March 2020 was £2.313 million (2019:£3.787 million).
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Housing properties
Housing properties are properties held for the provision of social housing or to otherwise provide
social benefit. Housing properties are principally properties available for rent and are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes the cost of acquiring
land and buildings, and development costs. Interest charges incurred during the development
period are charged to income & expenditure.
Works to existing properties which replace a component that has been treated separately for
depreciation purposes, along with those works that result in an increase in net rental income
over the lives of the properties, thereby enhancing the economic benefits of the assets, are
capitalised as improvements. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised.
Expenditure on shared ownership properties is split proportionally between current and fixed
assets based on the element relating to expected first tranche sales. The first tranche proportion
is classed as a current asset and related sales proceeds included in turnover and the remaining
element is classed as a fixed asset and included in housing properties at cost, less any provisions
needed for depreciation or impairment.
Government grants
Government grants include grants receivable from the Homes England (HE), local authorities,
and other government organisations. Government grants received for housing properties are
accounted for using the accruals model and as such are recognised in income over the useful life
of the housing property structure (but not the land), even if the fair value of the grant exceeds
the carrying value of the structure in the financial statements.
Grants relating to revenue are recognised in income and expenditure over the same period as
the expenditure to which they relate once reasonable assurance has been gained that the entity
will comply with the conditions and that the funds will be received.
Grants due from government organisations or received in advance are included as current assets
or liabilities.
Government grants received for housing properties are subordinated to the repayment of loans
by agreement with the HE. Government grants released on sale of a property may be repayable
but are normally available to be recycled and are credited to a Recycled Capital Grant Fund and
included in the statement of financial position in creditors.
If there is no requirement to recycle or repay the grant on disposal of the asset, any unamortised
grant remaining within creditors is released and recognised as income and expenditure.
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All of the Associations’ grant received has been classified as Government grant.
Other grants
Although not applicable, non-government grants would be accounted for using the
performance model.
Depreciation of housing properties
The Association separately identifies the major components which comprise its housing
properties, and charges depreciation, so as to write-down the cost of each component to its
estimated residual value, on a straight-line basis, over its estimated useful economic life.
Management initially determined these components during full implementation of Component
Accounting in 2011/12 and the factors considered at the time were:
Average spend over the last 7 full years
Anticipated spend over the next 30 years
Whilst realising that actual asset lives may differ over time.
The Association measures its housing properties and major components at initial cost and then
depreciates them at the following annual rates:
Structure
Built since 1980 – New build
Built before 1979
Rehabilitated
Sheltered Accommodation

1.4%pa [70 years]
1.7%pa [60 years]
1.7%pa [60 years]
1.7%pa [60 years]

Other Major Components
Boilers and Heating systems
Roofs

6.7%pa [15 years]
1.7%pa [60 years]

Kitchens
Bathrooms
Windows
External Walls

6.7%pa [15 years]
3.3%pa [30 years]
3.3%pa [30 years]
2.2%pa [45 years]

Freehold land is not depreciated.
Leasehold properties are amortised over the life of the lease or their estimated useful economic
lives in the business, if shorter.
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Other tangible fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is provided evenly on the cost of other tangible fixed assets to write them down to
their estimated residual values over their expected useful lives. No depreciation is provided on
freehold land.
The principal annual rates used for other assets are:
Office fixtures and fittings
Computer equipment
Motor vehicles
Major IT Project

15.0%pa reducing balance
33.3%pa straight line [3 years]
33.3%pa straight line [3 years]
12.5%pa straight line [8 years] from completion

Gains or losses arising on the disposal of other tangible fixed assets are determined as the
difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are
recognised as part of the surplus/deficit for the year.
Properties for sale
Shared ownership first tranche sales, completed properties for outright sale and property under
construction are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises materials,
direct labour and direct development overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated sales
price after allowing for all further costs of completion and disposal.
Provisions for liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Association has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Association will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount expected to be required to
settle the obligation is recognised at present value using a pre-tax discount rate. The unwinding
of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in income and expenditure in the period it arises.
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Holiday pay provision
The Association recognises a provision for annual leave accrued by employees as a result of
services rendered in the current period, and which employees are entitled to carry forward and
use within the next 12 months. The provision is measured at the salary cost payable for the
period of absence.
Unutilised service charges/Service equipment provision
The Association also has an obligation under tenants' service agreements to fund certain
expenditure relating to certain tenancies. The directors are unable to accurately estimate the
timings of the utilisation of the provision, which is expected to be line with the requirements of
the related services
Reserves
The Association establishes restricted reserves for specific purposes where their use is subject to
external restrictions.
Donated land reserve (Restricted)
This represents the value of the equity share retained in properties where the Association
provides affordable housing under Section 106 of the local planning regulations.
Revaluation reserve
This represents the movement in the valuation of our Investment properties. The difference
between the fair value of these investment properties and the historical cost carrying value is
credited to the revaluation reserve.
Accommodation managed by others (Managing agents)
Government capital grants are claimed by the Association as owner of the hostels, and are
included in the Statement of Financial position. The treatment of income and expenditure in
respect of these hostels depends on whether the Association bears the financial risk.
Where the Association bears the financial risk, for example for losses from voids and arrears, all
the hostel's income and expenditure is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Where the agent bears the financial risk, the Statement of Comprehensive Income includes only
that income and expenditure that relates solely to the Association. Other income and
expenditure in this category is excluded.
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3. Particulars of turnover, cost of sales, operating costs and operating surplus

Social housing lettings
General needs housing
Supported housing & housing for older people
Low cost home ownership / shared ownership
Other social housing activities
First tranche low cost home ownership / shared
ownership sales
Supporting people
Other
Activities other than social housing
Student accommodation
Commercial property

Social housing lettings
General needs housing
Supported housing & housing for older people
Low cost home ownership / shared ownership
Other social housing activities
First tranche low cost home ownership / shared
ownership sales
Supporting people
Other
Activities other than social housing
Student accommodation
Commercial property

Turnover
£'000

2020
Operating
costs
£'000

Operating
surplus
£'000

10,076
4,813
400
15,289

8,462
3,763
172
12,397

1,614
1,050
228
2,892

1,807
1,985
6
3,798

1,007
1,985
369
3,361

800
(363)
436

470
45

94
12

376
33

19,602

15,864

3,738

Turnover
£'000

2019
Operating
costs
£'000

Operating
surplus
£'000

9,924
4,835
329
15,088

8,010
3,854
145
12,009

1,914
981
184
3,079

2,892
1,988
4,880

2,151
1,988
344
4,483

741
(344)
397

451
17

52
38

399
(21)

20,436

16,582

3,854

Operating costs represent all costs (cost of sales and operating expenditure) incurred in meeting
our main aim of providing social housing.
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Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings

Income
Rent receivable net of identifiable service
charges
Charges for support services
Service charge income
Amortised government grants
Government grants taken to income
Other grants
Turnover from social housing lettings
Operating expenditure
Management
Service charge costs
Routine maintenance
Planned maintenance
Major repairs expenditure
Bad debts
Depreciation of housing properties
Write-off of housing property components
Impairment of housing properties
Other costs
Operating expenditure on social
housing lettings
Operating surplus on social housing
lettings
Void losses
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General
needs
housing
£'000

Supported
housing
and
housing
for older
people
£'000

Low cost
home
ownership
/ shared
ownership
£'000

Total
2020
£'000

Total
2019
£'000

8,948
269
859
10,076

3,820
529
464
4,813

328
39
33
400

13,096
837
1,356
15,289

12,934
818
1,325
11
15,088

1,601
265
2,009
1,803
266
48
2,223
185
62

1,336
572
446
367
8
14
966
33
21

14
4
3
2
93
56

2,951
841
2,458
2,172
274
62
3,282
218
139

3,007
881
2,387
1,859
333
71
3,195
127
149

8,462

3,763

172

12,397

12,009

1,614

1,050

228

2,892

3,079
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4. Accommodation in management and development
At the end of the year accommodation in management was as follows:
2020
No of
properties
Social housing
General housing:
- social rent
1,883
- affordable rent
99
Supported Housing
70
Housing for Older People
774
Low cost home ownership / Shared ownership
224
Total owned and managed
3,050
Accommodation managed for others
4
Total managed
3,054
Social Housing owned but managed by others*
Supported Housing
Total Owned
Non-social housing
Student accommodation
Commercial property
Total owned and managed
Accommodation purchased but not yet managed
Accommodation in development at the year end
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2019
No of
properties

1,873
94
72
774
213
3,026
4
3,030

207
3,261

208
3,238

238
2
240

244
2
246

16
-

-
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During the year the movements in accommodation in management were as follows:
Additions Disposals

Other

Total

Social housing
General housing:
- social rent
- affordable rent
Supported Housing
Housing for Older People
Low cost home ownership / Shared ownership
Temporary social housing
Key worker housing
Residential care homes
Total owned and managed
Accommodation managed for others
Total managed

7
5
1
15
28
28

(8)
(5)
(13)
(13)

12
(3)
9
9

11
5
(2)
10
24
24

Social Housing owned but managed by others*
Supported Housing
Total Owned

2
30

(13)

(3)
6

(1)
23

Non-social housing
Student accommodation
Commercial property

-

-

(6)
-

(6)
-

Total owned and managed

-

-

(6)

(6)

16

-

-

16

Accommodation purchased but not yet managed
Accommodation in development at the year end
*Accommodation owned but managed by others

These properties are managed on behalf of the Association, under management agreements, by other
bodies who contract with Supporting People Administering Authorities and carry the financial risk
relating to the units. These managing partners currently include: Community Links; Leeds Housing
Concern; Leeds Irish Health & Homes; Sign; Foundation Housing; Latch; Stonham; Wilf Ward Family Trust;
United Response; Creative Support; Pennine Domestic Violence Group; Bridgewood Trust; St Anne’s
Community Services; Calderdale Council; Leeds City Council Social Services.
Where the Association bears the financial risk, for example for losses from voids and arrears, all the
income and expenditure is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (SoCI). Where the agent
bears the financial risk, the SoCI includes only that income and expenditure that relates solely to the
Association. Other income and expenditure is excluded. The committees of the managing agents are not
controlled by the Association and no management fees were paid by the Association.
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5. Operating surplus
2020
£'000

2019
£'000

3,309
218
231
-

3,195
127
248
-

23
23
8

21
23
26

20
20

17
17

-

-

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

1,059
(476)
583
(73)
510

636
(238)
398
(88)
310

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

1
73
74

7
62
69

The operating surplus is arrived at after charging:
Depreciation of housing properties
Write-off of housing property components
Impairment of housing properties
Depreciation of other tangible fixed assets
Impairment of other tangible fixed assets
Operating lease rentals
- land and buildings
- office equipment and computers
- vans
Auditor's remuneration (excluding VAT)
- Audit of the financial statements
- Other services
Total audit services
- Tax compliance services
- All other services
Total non-audit services

6. Surplus on sale of fixed assets – housing properties

Disposal proceeds
Carrying value of fixed assets
Capital grant impact on disposal
Total surplus on sale of fixed assets

7. Interest receivable and other income

Interest receivable and similar income
Other income
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8. Interest and financing costs

Finance leases
Defined benefit pension charge
Loans and bank overdrafts

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

89
2,058
2,147

119
1,960
2,079

Finance fees incurred on new loans during the year amount to £56k (2019: £232k)

9. Employees
2020
No.

2019
No.

26
70
82
178

24
64
79
167

£60,001 to £70,000
£70,001 to £80,000

2020
No.
-

2019
No.
-

Employee costs:

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

4,800
433
207
5,440

4,614
424
206
5,244

Average monthly number of employees expressed as full time
equivalents (calculated based on a standard working week of
37hrs):
Finance and Resources (including Chief Executive)
Good Homes
Neighbourly Places

The full time equivalent number of staff who received
remuneration (excluding pension) (excluding directors):

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Restructuring Costs

The Association’s employees are members of the Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS). Further
information on this scheme is given in note 23.
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10. Key management personnel
The Directors of the Association are the members of the Board of Management (Board
members) and, for the purposes of this disclosure, the Chief Executive and the three functional
directors, namely, the Director of Finance and Resources, the Director of Neighbourly Places, and
the Director of Home (aggregately the Executive directors).
The emoluments of the highest paid director, the Chief Executive, excluding pension
contributions, were £100,209 (2019: £98,273).

Executive directors (staff members)

Chief Executive
Director of Finance & Resources
Director of Home
Director of Neighbourly Places

Basic
salary

Benefits
in kind

Pension
contributions

2020
Total

2019
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

99
72
71
69
311

1
1
1
1
4

6
5
4
4
19

106
78
76
74
334

102
74
73
72
321

The Chief Executive (as well as the three functional directors) is a member of the Social Housing
Pension Scheme. She is an ordinary member of the pension scheme and no enhanced or special
terms apply. The Association does not make any further contributions to an individual pension
arrangement for the Chief Executive.
Board members
None of the board members received emoluments. As stated above, the emoluments of the
highest paid (Executive) director, the Chief Executive, excluding pension contributions, were
£100,209 (2019: £98,273).

11. Tax on surplus on ordinary activities
For taxation purposes the Association has charitable status and accordingly is exempt from
corporation tax on its investment income under Sections 505 (1) (a) and (1) (g) of the Income
and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.
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12. Fixed assets – housing properties

Social
housing
properties
held for
letting
£'000
Cost
At 1 April 2019
Additions:
Works to existing properties
Works to schemes under
construction
Schemes completed
Disposals
Derecognition of components
Transfer between categories
Transfer to current assets
At 31 March 2020

Social
Shared
housing Completed
ownership
properties
shared
housing
Total
for letting ownership
properties
under
housing
under
housing
construction properties construction properties
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000

165,932

863

7,828

405

175,028

1,604

-

-

-

1,604

2,381
(376)
(887)
168,654

1,920
(2,381)
402

2,189
(238)
(988)
8,791

1,885
(2,189)
101

3,805
(614)
(887)
(988)
177,948

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2019
Depreciation charged in the year
Impairment charged in the year
Released on derecognition
Released on disposal
Transfer between categories
Transfer to current assets
At 31 March 2020

(48,333)
(3,216)
668
112
(50,769)

-

(1,000)
(93)
31
(1,062)

-

(49,333)
(3,309)
668
143
(51,831)

Net book value
At 31 March 2020

117,885

402

7,729

101

126,117

At 31 March 2019

117,599

863

6,828

405

125,695

2020
£'000
3,805
1,604
1,384
6,793

2019
£'000
7,625
1,601
1,363
10,589

Expenditure on works to existing properties
Improvement works capitalised
Components capitalised
Amounts charged to the income and expenditure*
*Cyclical planned and major repairs revenue spend on fixed assets housing
properties - including abortive costs
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12. Fixed assets - housing properties (continued)
Social housing assistance
Total accumulated social housing grant received or receivable at 31 March:
Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Held as deferred income
Total accumulated social housing grant received or receivable at 31 March:
Capital Grant - SHG

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

31,526
57,719
89,245

30,236
58,672
88,908

78,709

Capital Grant - Other Grant

10,536
89,245

Charges over properties
The Association has a first mortgage charge over certain housing properties with a value of £1.1 million
in favour of Social Housing Pension Scheme following transfer of housing properties to Connect Housing
Association following the merger of The Ridings Housing Association and West Yorkshire Housing
Association Limited in 2007. There are further charges over housing properties in respect of bank loans as
set out in note 21.

13. Tangible fixed assets other
Freehold
offices
£'000

Electronic
equipment
£'000

Major IT
project
£'000

Fixture &
fittings
£'000

Motor
vehicles
£'000

£'000

2,769
2,769

3,288
55
3,343

165
483
648

294
32
326

112
112

6,628
570
7,198

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2019
(803)
Charged in the year
(169)
Released on disposal
At 31 March 2020
(972)

(3,260)
(38)
(3,298)

-

(272)
(8)
(280)

(53)
(17)
(70)

(4,388)
(232)
(4,620)

Cost
At 1 April 2019
Additions
Disposals
At 31 March 2020

Total

Net book value
At 31 March 2020

1,797

45

648

46

42

2,578

At 31 March 2019

1,966

28

165

22

59

2,240

The net book value of other tangible fixed assets includes £nil (2018: £nil) in respect of assets under
finance leases. A major IT project to replace the majority of major IT systems within the organisation is
on-going and should be completed within 2020/21. At this stage these costs are classified as work in
progress until the completion of the project.

60

CONNECT HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 March 2020
14. Investment properties non-social housing properties held for letting
2020
£'000
At 1 April 2019
Additions
Disposals
At 31 March 2020

4,943
4,943

The Associations investment properties comprise commercial units at Royal Park Flats and New
York Street.
Investment properties were valued as at 13th February 2015 (Royal Park Flats) and 6th May 2014
(New York Street). Investment properties have been valued by Ryden LLP, professional external
valuers. Ryden LLP is a Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors Regulated firm. As a result, Ryden
ensures its processes and valuations are fully compliant with the Professional Standards
(incorporating the International Valuation Standards) January 2014. Investment properties have
been valued based on the market value of the properties subject to the existing tenancies.
At 31st March 2015 the New York Street valuation was increased in line with rental increases at
that scheme. No increase was applied to Royal Park Flats at that time as the valuation was
recent.
In the year ending 31st March 2020 there was no revaluation applied to these properties which
reflects latest movements in rent yield.

15. Properties (held) for sale

Shared ownership properties:
At 1 April
Completed properties
Sold in year
Properties developed for outright sale
Properties transferred from Housing Fixed Assets
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2020
£'000

2019
£'000

64
1,024
(995)
93

567
1,252
(1,755)
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16. Debtors

Due within one year
Rent and service charges receivable
Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts

Employee loans
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income
Due after more than one year
Loans
Employee loans
Prepayments and accrued income

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

295
(174)
121

284
(162)
122

19
337
681
1,158

21
513
721
1,377

24
326
350

25
388
413

1,508

1,790

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

1,277
733
630
132
1,380
97
298
58
387
4,992

1,900
1,622
574
51
1,372
106
256
88
446
6,415

17. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Debt (note 21)
Trade creditors
Rent and service charges received in advance
Recycled capital grant find (note 20)
Deferred (capital) grant fund (note 19)
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income
Interest payable

Other (capital) grants received in advance will be utilised against capital expenditure in
2020-21.
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18. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
2020
£'000

2019
£'000

46,517
835
56,339
103,691

45,926
826
57,300
104,052

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

At 1 April
Grant received in the year
Released to imcome int the year*
At 31 March

(58,672)
(595)
1,548
(57,719)

(59,226)
(1,316)
1,870
(58,672)

Amounts to be released within one year (note 17)
Amounts to be released in more than one year (note 18)
Total Loans

(1,380)
(56,339)
(57,719)

(1,372)
(57,300)
(58,672)

Debt (note 21)
Recycled capital grant fund (note 20)
Deferred (capital) grant income (note 19)
Accruals and deferred income

19. Deferred (capital) grant

*Amount released to income includes £1,374k (2019: £1,343k) amortisation, and £174k
(2019: £528k) released due to disposals
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20. Recycled capital grant fund (RCGF)
2020
£'000

2019
£'000

877
246
1
(157)
967
967

547
963
1
(635)
876
876

Amount of grant due for repayment within one year (note 17)

132

51

Amount of grant due for repayment after more than one year
(note 18)
Total Loans

835
967

826
877

At 1 April
Grants recycled
Interest accrued
Utilisation on schemes in the year
Repayment of grant
At 31 March

Withdrawals from the RCGF were used for the purchase and development of new housing
schemes for letting.
At 31 March 2020, there are no amounts due for payment to the Homes England.
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21. Debt analysis

Due within one year
Bank loans
Other loans
Less: issue costs
Due after more than one year
Bank loans
Other loans
Less: issue costs

Total Loans

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

1,228
49
(102)
1,175

1,851
49
(89)
1,811

41,484
5,034
(317)
46,200

40,843
5,083
(377)
45,549

47,375

47,360

Security
Other loans are secured by fixed charges on individual properties. The bank loans are secured by
a floating charge over the assets of the Association and by fixed charges on individual properties.
Terms of repayment and interest rates
The Bank Loans are repaid in quarterly or half yearly instalments, over the estimated life of the
scheme on which the loan is secured, at either fixed rates of interest ranging from 1.23% to
11.82% or variable rates. The final instalments fall to be repaid in the period 2020 to 2043.
The other loans are repaid in half yearly instalments, over the estimated life of the scheme on
which the loan is secured, at fixed rates of interest ranging from 8.75% to 11.5%. The final
instalments fall to be repaid in the period 2020 to 2022.
At 31March 2020 the association had undrawn loan facilities of £21.25m (2019: £32m)
£6.25m Santander – Existing Facility
£15m Yorkshire Bank – New Facility
Based on the lender’s earliest repayment date, borrowings are repayable as follows:

Within one year or on demand
One year or more but less than two years
Two years or more but less than five years
Five years or more

65

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

1,175
6,190
14,222
25,788
47,375

1,811
9,129
9,760
26,660
47,360
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22. Financial instruments (assets and liabilities)
The Association’s approach to financial instruments is explained in more detail in note 2
Accounting policies with references to financial risks being covered in the Strategic report.
However, all of the Association’s loans have been classified as basic and continue to be reported
at amortised cost along with all other financial liabilities, and indeed assets.
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

Trade and other debtors (note 16 and SoFP)
Cash and cash equivalents (SoCF and SoFP)
Total

870
2,156
3,026

969
2,552
3,521

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

2,020
£'000

2,019
£'000

48,180

48,271

57,719
2,819
108,718

58,672
3,378
110,321

Debt (Bank loans and other loans including Interest Payable) (note
17 and 18)
Deferred capital grant income (note 17 and 18)
Trade and other creditors (note 17 and 18)
Total

The amounts owed to lenders attract interest at rates between 1.805% and 11.82% p.a.
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23. Pensions

FRS 102 – Section 28 Accounting disclosures
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 31 MARCH 2019 TO 31 MARCH 2020
COMPANY: Connect Housing Association Limited
PLAN: Social Housing Pension Scheme
The company participates in the Social Housing Pension Scheme (the Scheme), a multi-employer
scheme which provides benefits to some 500 non-associated employers. The Scheme is a
defined benefit scheme in the UK.
The Scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came
into force on 30 December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions
Regulator and Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out
the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK.
The last triennial valuation of the scheme for funding purposes was carried out as at 30
September 2017. This valuation revealed a deficit of £1,522m. A Recovery Plan has been put in
place with the aim of removing this deficit by 30 September 2026.
The Scheme is classified as a 'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore the company is
potentially liable for other participating employers' obligations if those employers are unable to
meet their share of the scheme deficit following withdrawal from the Scheme. Participating
employers are legally required to meet their share of the Scheme deficit on an annuity purchase
basis on withdrawal from the Scheme.
For financial years ending on or before 28 February 2019, it was not possible for the company to
obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit
scheme, therefore the company has accounted for the Scheme as a defined contribution
scheme.
For financial years ending on or after 31 March 2019, it is possible to obtain sufficient
information to enable the company to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit scheme.
For accounting purposes, a valuation of the scheme was carried out with an effective date of 30
September 2018. The liability figures from this valuation were rolled forward for accounting
year-ends from 31 March 2019 to 29 February 2020 inclusive. The liabilities are compared, at
the relevant accounting date, with the company’s fair share of the Scheme’s total assets to
calculate the company’s net deficit or surplus.
Similarly, an actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 30 September 2019 to
inform the liabilities for accounting year ends from 31 March 2020 to 28 February 2021
inclusive.
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FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS, PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT
OBLIGATION, AND DEFINED BENEFIT ASSET (LIABILITY)
31 March
2020
(£000s)
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of defined benefit obligation
Surplus (deficit) in plan
Unrecognised surplus
Defined benefit asset (liability) to be recognised
Deferred tax
Net defined benefit asset (liability) to be recognised

31 March
2019
(£000s)

15,220

14,615

17,533

18,402

(2,313)

(3,787)

-

-

(2,313)

(3,787)

-

-

(2,313)

(3,787)

RECONCILIATION OF THE IMPACT OF THE ASSET CEILING
Period from
31 March
2019 to 31
March 2020
(£000s)
Impact of asset ceiling at start of period
Effect of the asset ceiling included in net interest cost
Actuarial losses (gains) on asset ceiling
Impact of asset ceiling at end of period
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RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE DEFINED
BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Period from
31 March
2019 to 31
March 2020
(£000s)
Defined benefit obligation at start of period
Current service cost
Expenses
Interest expense
Member contributions
Actuarial losses (gains) due to scheme experience
Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes in demographic assumptions
Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes in financial assumptions
Benefits paid and expenses
Liabilities acquired in a business combination
Liabilities extinguished on settlements
Losses (gains) on curtailments
Losses (gains) due to benefit changes
Exchange rate changes
Defined benefit obligation at end of period
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18,402
62
15
457
85
(35)
167
(1,177)
(443)
17,533
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 March 2020
RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE FAIR VALUE
OF PLAN ASSETS
Period from
31 March
2019 to 31
March 2020
(£000s)
Fair value of plan assets at start of period
Interest income

14,615
368

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest income) - gain
(loss)
Employer contributions

81
514

Member contributions
Benefits paid and expenses

85
(443)

Assets acquired in a business combination

-

Assets distributed on settlements

-

Exchange rate changes
Fair value of plan assets at end of period

15,220

The actual return on plan assets (including any changes in share of assets) over the period from 31 March
2019 to 31 March 2020 was £449,000.

DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (SOCI)
Period from
31 March
2019 to 31
March 2020
(£000s)
Current service cost
Expenses
Net interest expense
Losses (gains) on business combinations
Losses (gains) on settlements
Losses (gains) on curtailments
Losses (gains) due to benefit changes
Defined benefit costs recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income (SoCI)
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62
15
89
166
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DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(OCI)
Period from
31 March
2019 to 31
March 2020
(£000s)
Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest cost) - gain
(loss)
Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities - gain (loss)

81
35

Effects of changes in the demographic assumptions underlying the present value of the
defined benefit obligation - gain (loss)

(167)

Effects of changes in the financial assumptions underlying the present value of the
defined benefit obligation - gain (loss)

1,177

Total actuarial gains and losses (before restriction due to some of the surplus not being
recognisable) - gain (loss)

1,126

Effects of changes in the amount of surplus that is not recoverable (excluding amounts
included in net interest cost) - gain (loss)

-

Total amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income - gain (loss)
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1,126
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ASSETS
31 March
2020
(£000s)
Global Equity
Absolute Return
Distressed Opportunities
Credit Relative Value
Alternative Risk Premia
Fund of Hedge Funds
Emerging Markets Debt
Risk Sharing
Insurance-Linked Securities
Property
Infrastructure
Private Debt
Opportunistic Illiquid Credit
Corporate Bond Fund
Liquid Credit
Long Lease Property
Secured Income
Over 15 Year Gilts
Index Linked All Stock Gilts
Liability Driven Investment
Net Current Assets
Total assets

31 March
2019
(£000s)

2,226

2,459

794

1,265

293

266

417

268

1,064

843

9

66

461

504

514

441

467

419

335

329

1,133

766

307

196

368

-

868

682

6

-

263

215

578

523

-

-

-

-

5,052

5,345

65

28

15,220

14,615

None of the fair values of the assets shown above include any direct investments in the employer’s own
financial instruments or any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the employer.
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KEY ASSUMPTIONS
31 March
2020
% per annum

31 March
2019
% per annum

Discount Rate

2.35%

2.50%

Inflation (RPI)

2.56%

3.10%

Inflation (CPI)

1.56%

2.10%

Salary Growth

2.56%

3.10%

Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at
retirement

75% of
maximum
allowance

75% of
maximum
allowance

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 March 2020 imply the following life expectancies:
Life
expectancy
at age 65
(Years)
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Male retiring in 2020

21.5

Female retiring in 2020

23.3

Male retiring in 2040

22.9

Female retiring in 2040

24.5
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24. Provisions for liabilities – other provisions
Unutilised
service
charges

Holiday
pay

£'000

£'000

605
89
(178)

53
55
(53)

150
-

658
294
(231)

5
521

55

150

5
726

At 1 April 2019
Additions
Amount utilised
Re-classification of schemes in debit balance to
debtors
At 31 March 2020

Other
provisions

Total
£'000

Unutilised service charges/Service equipment provision
The Association also has an obligation under tenants' service agreements to fund certain expenditure
relating to certain tenancies. The directors are unable to accurately estimate the timings of the utilisation
of the provision, which is expected to be line with the requirements of the related services.
Holiday pay provision
The Association recognises a provision for annual leave accrued by employees as a result of services
rendered in the current period, and which employees are entitled to carry forward and use within the
next 12 months. The provision is measured at the salary cost payable for the period of absence.

25. Deferred taxation
For taxation purposes the Association has charitable status and accordingly is exempt from corporation
tax on its investment income under Sections 505 (1) (a) and (1) (g) of the Income and Corporation Taxes
Act 1988.

26. Share capital

At 1 April
Redistribution to retained earnings
At 31 March

2020
£

2019
£

-

59
(59)
-

The Association is limited by guarantee and therefore has no share capital. As the Association moved to a
closed membership in August 2018 only Board members are shareholders with the right to vote at
general meetings, but does not provide any rights to dividends or distributions on winding up.
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27. Cash flow from operating activities

Surplus for the year
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Amortisation of grants (note 19)
(Increase)/Decrease in properties for sale (note 15)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other debtors (note 16)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other creditors
(Decrease) in provisions (exc SHPS obligation) (note 24)
Pension costs less contributions payable (SHPS obligation) (note
23)
Carrying amount of tangible fixed asset disposals (note 6)
Adjustments for investing or financing activities:
Proceeds from the sale of tangible fixed assets (note 6)
Government grants utilised in the year
Interest payable (note 8)
Interest received (note 7)
Net cash generated from operating activities

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

3,301

523

3,757
(1,548)
(29)
282
(721)
68

3,598
(1,870)
503
(237)
617
(10)

(1,473)
476

1,425
239

(1,059)
2,147
(74)
5,128

(636)
2,079
(69)
6,162

Analysis of changes in net debt
At 1
April
2019
Cash at bank and in hand
Debt due within one year
Debt due after one year
Net debt
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2,552
(1,900)
(45,926)
(45,274)

Non cash
Cash flow movement
(396)
782
(750)
(364)

(159)
159
-

At 31
March
2020
2,156
(1,277)
(46,517)
(45,638)
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28. Capital commitments
The Association's capital expenditure commitments are as follows:

Capital expenditure
Expenditure contracted for but provided in the accounts
Expenditure authorised by the Board of Management, but not
contracted

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

1,503

3,253

9,148
10,651

3,253

The above commitments will be financed primarily through borrowings which are available for
draw-down under existing loan arrangements, with the balance funded through social housing
grant and property sales

29. Contingent assets/liabilities
The Association has no contingent assets at 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).
The Association also has no contingent liabilities at 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).

30. Leasing commitments
The future minimum lease payments of leases are set out below. Leases relate to office
equipment, office space, office car parking, vans and laundry equipment.
The Association's future minimum operating lease payments are as
follows:

Within one year
Between one and five years
Beyond five years

The Association does not have any finance leases.
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2020
£'000
43
108
151

2019
£'000
27
23
50

CONNECT HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 March 2020

31. Related parties
During the year the Association made one new loan to its Directors; Martyn Broadest, Director of
Home (£1,071 travel pass loan). The maximum amount outstanding in the year for Martyn
Broadest in respect of all loans was £1,071 and the balance outstanding at the end of the year
was £89.
Disclosures in relation to key management personnel are further detailed in note 10.
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